Thursday, 26 November 2015



At a meeting of the LEICESTER CITY COUNCIL held at the Town Hall at FIVE O'CLOCK in the afternoon on Thursday, 26 NOVEMBER 2015 duly convened for the business hereunder mentioned.

=============

BUSINESS

=============

1. LORD MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting of 8 October 2015 are available to view at <u>http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk:8071/documents/g6901/Printed%20minutes%20T</u> <u>hursday%2008-Oct-2015%2017.00%20Council.pdf?T=1</u> Copies are also available from Democratic Support on 0116 454 6352 / committees@leicester.gov.uk

4. **PETITIONS**

- Presented by Members of the Public
 - Presented by Councillors

5. **QUESTIONS**

- From Members of the Public
- From Councillors

6. MATTERS RESERVED TO FULL COUNCIL

- 6.1 Healthier Air for Leicester: Leicester's Air Quality Action Plan 2015-2026
- 6.2 Leicester and Leicestershire Combined Authority
- 6.3 Review of Statement of Licensing Policy
- 6.4 Gambling Policy
- 6.5 Minimum Revenue Provision

7. REPORTS OF REGULATORY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEES

7.1 Annual Report of the Audit & Risk Committee to Council for the Municipal Year 2014-15

8. **EXECUTIVE AND COMMITTEES** - To note any changes to the Executive. To vary the composition and fill any vacancies of any Committee of Council.

9. NOTICES OF MOTION

10. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS

Filming and Recording the Meeting

The Council is committed to transparency and supports efforts to record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, including social media. In accordance with government regulations and the Council's policy, persons and press attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub Committees and where the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report all or part of that meeting. Details of the Council's policy are available at www.leicester.gov.uk or from Democratic Support.

If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public gallery etc.

The aim of the Regulations and of the Council's policy is to encourage public interest and engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked:

- \checkmark to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption;
- ✓ to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided;
- ✓ where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting;
- ✓ where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that they may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed.

PRESENT:

TED CASSIDY, LORD MAYOR CHAIRMAN

SIR PETER SOULSBY - CITY MAYOR

Abbey Ward

HARSHAD DAHYABHAI BHAVSAR ANNETTE BYRNE VIJAY SINGH RIYAIT

Aylestone Ward

ADAM CLARKE NIGEL CARL PORTER

Beaumont Leys Ward

HEMANT RAE BHATIA SUE WADDINGTON PAUL THOMAS WESTLEY

Belgrave Ward

MANSUKLAL CHOHAN MANJULA SOOD JOHN THOMAS

Braunstone Park and Rowley Fields

STEVE CORRALL ELAINE HALFORD KULWINDER SINGH JOHAL

Castle Ward

PATRICK JOSEPH KITTERICK LYNN SENIOR

Evington Ward

DEEPAK BAJAJ RATILAL BHAGWAN GOVIND SUE HUNTER

Eyres Monsell Ward

VIRGINIA CLEAVER RORY PALMER North Evington Ward

LUIS FONSECA JEAN KHOTE ABDUL RAZAK OSMAN

Rushey Mead Ward

PIARA SINGH CLAIR RITA PATEL

Saffron Ward

ELLY CUTKELVIN WILLIAM SHELTON

Spinney Hills Ward

SHOFIQUL ISLAM CHOWDHURY MUSTAFA MALIK

Stoneygate Ward

KIRK MASTER AMINUR THALUKDAR

Thurncourt Ward

TERESA ALDRED PAUL NEWCOMBE

Troon Ward

DIANE CANK BALJIT SINGH

Westcotes Ward

ANDY CONNELLY SARAH RUSSELL Fosse Ward

DAWN ALFONSO

Humberstone and Hamilton Ward

RASHMI JOSHI GURINDER SINGH SANDHU

Knighton Ward

ROSS GRANT INDERJIT SINGH GUGNANI DR LYNN MOORE Western Ward

DR SUSAN BARTON GEORGE COLE MALCOLM UNSWORTH

Wycliffe Ward

HANIF AQBANY MOHAMMED DAWOOD

LORD MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

Prayers

Before the meeting formally commenced the Lord Mayor asked his chaplain the Revd Alison Adams to say an appropriate prayer.

Statements

In the light of the Chancellor of the Exchequer's recent announcement of the Comprehensive Spending Review to 2020 the City Mayor gave a brief statement regarding the settlement and the anticipated significant impacts and pressures on Council services once the detailed figures were made available in mid-December.

Councillor Waddington informed Council of recent Government funding reductions for English courses for speakers of other languages (ESOL) and highlighted the impacts on Council services and cultural integration in addition to the impacts on economic independence and social isolation of the individuals affected. Councillor Waddington noted that the Council would be urging the government to reverse the funding changes.

Oral health promotion service

The Lord Mayor noted that Leicester had high levels of tooth decay in pre-school children and that to address this the Oral Health Promotion Partnership Programme had been established by the Council in 2013 with the aim of supporting coordinated activity across Leicester City to improve oral health, reduce oral health inequalities and lay solid foundations for good oral health throughout life.

As a result of its work the Oral Health Promotion Partnership Programme had been awarded a 2 year Health and Wellbeing Award for its planned and comprehensive programme of oral health improvement for children.

The Lord Mayor welcomed: Dr Jasmine Murphy – Consultant in Public Health Paul Akroyd – Project Manager (Public Health) Sarah Brown - Oral Health Promoter Michelle Hall – Oral Health Promoter (on maternity leave) Laura Watkins – Oral Health Promoter

to receive the award.

Food for life awards

The Lord Mayor gave details of Leicester's Food Plan which was part of a long term programme to make Leicester a healthy and sustainable food city. The Lord Mayor was therefore delighted to announce that the Soil Association Food for Life Bronze award had been won by Overdale Junior School and that the Soil Association Food for Life Bronze Catering Mark Award had been won by Leicester City Council's in house catering service.

The Lord Mayor invite Karen Cooper, Juliet Hart, Isaac Ford, Charlie Ball, Samuel Hall, Jamie Shears and Gurleen Johal from Overdale Junior School and Jane Faulks, Head of Leicester City Council's Catering Service to receive the awards.

Lord Mayor additionally invited Councillor Osman to pay tribute to the work done by the school and the catering service.

GNG football club award

The Lord Mayor informed Council that the GNG Football Club from Leicester had recently been awarded the Club of the Year National Award at the third Asian Football Awards. GNG had been active in the city for the last fifty years with the club recently involved in developing its own clubhouse, facilities and pitches at Riverside and Aylestone Playing Fields with the support of the Football Foundation, Leicester City Council and Leicester Health Trust.

Accordingly the Lord Mayor invited Dr Charnpreet Singh Johal, Parmjit Singh Ryat, Surinder Pal Singh, Rohan Singh Purewal and Arjan Singh Dayal to receive the award.

Lord Mayor invited Councillor Clair to say a few words who congratulated the club and thanked the City Mayor for the Council's commitment to sport and the management of the club for their work and noted the work undertaken by Councillor Singh Johal.

Recent Attacks

The Lord Mayor referred to the shared revulsion of the people of Leicester of all backgrounds and faiths over the recent atrocious killings of innocent people including in Paris, Beirut, Mali and Egypt.

The Lord Mayor led the Council in a minute's silence as a mark of respect to those who have lost their lives and also to remember their loved ones and the many people who were injured by the attacks.

Fire & Emergency Evacuation Procedure

The Lord Mayor asked all present to note the evacuation procedures detailed on the Agenda for the meeting and asked anyone with any queries to speak to one of the Town Hall staff who would be able to assist.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The Lord Mayor invited Members to declare any interests they may have in the business on the agenda.

Councillor Aldred declared an Other Disclosable Interests in relation to questions 2-4 as a family member worked for the Fire Authority.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Moved by the Lord Mayor, seconded by the Deputy Lord Mayor and carried:

16. That the minutes of the meeting of Council held on 8 October 2015, copies having been circulated to each Member of the Council, be taken as read and that they be approved as a correct record.

PETITIONS

Councillor Patel presented a petition with 573 signatures in the following terms:

"The members of Rushey Fields Residents Association & residents would like to request you to install CCTV cameras in Rushey Fields Park and at the junction of Gipsy Lane and Harrison Road for the safety of park users, pupils of Rushey Mead High School, Soar Valley College, Rushey Mead Primary School and St Patrick's Primary School, as well as devotees of Guru Ravidas, Sai Krupa Temple and Shakti Mandir, Harrison Road, Dashmesh Gurdwara, Gipsy Lane and for the safety of residents."

Councillor Rae Bhatia presented a petition with 30 signatures in the following terms:

"We the undersigned request the Council to carry out the urgent remodelling and resurfacing (not repairs) of the carriageway between Darlington Road and the Heathley Park traffic lights (Westbound) of the carriageway."

Councillor Porter presented a petition with 682 signatures in the following terms:

"We the undersigned call on the Council to listen to local people and remove 24/7 bus lanes on Lutterworth Road and Aylestone Road or amend the bus lane restrictions to Monday – Friday at peak periods only."

Councillor Porter presented a petition with 88 signatures in the following terms:

"We the undersigned call on the Council to install bollards to stop Marsden Lane and Sanvey Lane being used as rat-runs. Motorists attempting to bypass traffic on Middleton Street and Lutterworth Road use these roads as a cut through. We're exceedingly concerned about pedestrian safety and dangerous driving. We respectfully request that the council listen to us and work with residents in order that bollards can be installed as quickly as possible."

The Lord Mayor stated that under Council Procedure Rule 13a the aforementioned petitions would be referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration and action as appropriate.

QUESTIONS

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Lord Mayor: This next item is questions from the public. Mrs. Flude to present four questions on behalf of Mr. David Hartshorne. Mrs. Flude your first question please.

Mrs. Flude: How important does the City Mayor think it is that our road network is free flowing in order to allow the City to be safe, competitive and an attractive location to live, work and socialise?

Lord Mayor: Thank you. City Mayor.

City Mayor: Thank you my Lord Mayor. My Lord Mayor I was not surprised to discover that Mrs. Flude was going to be the person to actually ask these questions. Her virtually single handed campaign against almost every improvement in the City Centre has become legendary, despite of course the complete absence of any public support. I think that I recall her having opposed Jubilee Square, the improvements in Newarke Street, the Guildhall Lane improvements and even the very significant improvements outside of her own business. I think my Lord Mayor it is interesting to note that the author of these questions who perhaps also has on occasions joined Mrs. Flude in her campaign has substantially appreciated, apparently, the improvements that have taken place in and around the area where her business exists in that I understand that he has a recently put in an application for a payment licence which will enable him to take advantage of that area, a licence we have been very pleased to grant.

Lord Mayor: Mrs Flude have you got a supplementary question?

Mrs. Flude: I have but he did not actually answer my question.

Lord Mayor: Would you like to raise a supplementary question.

Mrs. Flude: OK. Department for Transport congestion figures show that our journey times are taking on average 5% longer than it did in 2011 when you started to trim the capacity for cars on our highways, and I wonder what impact that is having on air quality in the City Centre.

City Mayor: Thank you Mrs. Flude. City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor I think that it is undoubtedly the case that those who commute into the City Centre make a significant contribution to the air quality in the City and we have encouraged as far as we can a change of mode of transport such that air quality can be improved hence of course the encouragement of public transport in general and the improvement of the availability of cycle ways in the City Centre. I understand from today's Guardian that Mrs. Flude herself travels in in a van every morning, some 23 miles the Guardian tells me. I would suggest that she might consider herself altering the mode of transport and thereby contributing to the quality of air in the City.

Lord Mayor: Mrs. Flude have you a supplementary question?

Mrs. Flude: I've asked my supplementary question.

Lord Mayor: Thank you. Would you like to ask your next question please?

Mrs Flude: OK. The Department for Transport predict that by 2040 traffic will increase by 42% on local roads with an expected 61% increase in congestion. Does the City Mayor think it is best that on the central ring road we maximise the existing infrastructure for the majority of road users or we squeeze the capacity and inconvenience the majority of road users?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor on her commute into Leicester Mrs. Flude will I hope have noticed the very significant investment that we and our County colleagues are making in the road network in and around the City which I hope is improving her

commute in the mornings and her journey home in the evenings. My Lord Mayor the short answer is that of course we must continue to invest in the roads because the motor car is with us for the foreseeable future and is an important part of what helps to make this City move and to contribute to its economic viability and vitality. But of course we must also recognise that the increased growth predicted by the Department of Transport is a growth that is unsustainable in cities that were, in effect, for the most part laid out for the horse and cart, and that we must look in those circumstances to balancing the use of available scarce resource of road space and of course seek to promote alternative modes of transport.

Lord Mayor: Mrs. Flude have you a supplementary question?

Mrs. Flude: I do. For clarity is the City Mayor aware that on an average day almost 23,000 motor vehicles pass along Welford Road at its junction with Newarke Street compared with only 182 cyclists. The number of cyclists having fallen year on year since 2011 from 311 pedal cycles a day.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor as I think Mrs. Flude has been told on a number of occasions a recorded survey shows very different figures from the ones that she quotes this evening and it is certainly the case that in so far as we can we ought to continue to promote the modal shift from the private car to public transport and to cycles and I hope that she will herself set an example.

Lord Mayor: Mrs. Flude your next question please.

Mrs. Flude Does the City Mayor think it is possible that fewer local people are making the trip into the City because figures from the Department for Transport indicate both a fall in the number of bus trips taken which is a decrease of around 24%, and less than expected local traffic on our roads?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: Not for the first time my Lord Mayor I would draw Mrs. Flude's attention to the inconsistency of her questioning. In this question she is talking about less than expected local traffic and in the previous question she was asking about the impact of 42% increase in traffic.

Mrs. Flude: We are bucking the trend.

City Mayor: Frankly my Lord Mayor that inconsistency is very typical of the approach that she has adopted

Mrs. Flude: Why are we bucking the trend.

City Mayor: ... in her consistent opposition to every improvement that has been made in the City centre ...

Lord Mayor: Excuse me hold on a second. City Mayor just hold on one second. We won't allow you to shout out in the middle of questions. You have a chance to have a chance to have a supplementary question afterwards. OK. Thank you.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor she has consistently opposed almost single handedly every improvement that has been made in the City Centre. She has been mistaken

about all of that. She has had little public support if any to that opposition and my Lord Mayor she has consistently been proved wrong.

Lord Mayor: Mrs. Flude have you a supplementary question?

Mrs. Flude: That was the answer to my supplementary question.

Lord Mayor: Ok if you will move to your next question then please.

Mrs. Flude: OK. What assessment if any is undertaken by Leicester City Council to determine the potential impact upon air quality prior to works on the highway?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

Councillor Clarke: My Lord Mayor, the City Mayor has asked me to respond to this question because it does specifically talk about air quality which we are coming on to as a future agenda item later on. Air quality as Mrs. Flude knows is a network wide issue and should not be looked at from an individual project specific perspective i.e. in isolation. Our transport strategy for the transport network includes tackling congestion, improving accessibility, reducing transport carbon emissions and improving air quality and road safety of course. To improve air quality we need to cater for the current traffic levels and future traffic growth by encouraging and facilitating proportionately more travel by sustainable modes which is why we are creating spaces for that to happen. Adopting our Air Quality Action Plan as I trust we do later is a demonstration of our commitment to achieving this. Design of highways works are aimed at delivering one or more but usually most of the objectives within our published and adopted transport strategy. Each project is part of the overall package of measures for encouraging sustainable travel. The general principle of the designs is to facilitate more trips particularly by sustainable modes but at the same time not reduce capacity for general traffic, and I think we would all accept that that is a delicate balance. We have air quality monitors at strategic points on the City's highway network and we assess the data from monitors to help ensure the strategy is having the desired effect, and since 2010 we have actually seen an improvement in air quality for most of our monitoring stations and have been removing them as air quality improves. We have further partnerships with experts, global experts at the University of Leicester who fly over the City and record the air quality using the latest technology and that technology along with our work has led to an Air Quality Action Plan that I will present later which is accepted by DEFRA as a model of good practice. Thank you my Lord Mayor.

Lord Mayor: Mrs. Flude have you a supplementary question?

Mrs. Flude: I do. If by squeezing the traffic on the central ring road Councillor Clarke you are causing increases in nitrogen dioxide is this not making it unsafe for our cyclists to exercise at the side of the road. I believe we should be looking at encouraging more people to use sustainable transport, this is not an anti-cycle campaign, and my concern is that by not using the infrastructure of the City, the road network to its best ability and squeezing the traffic as you have been doing, that this is impacting not only on City Centre businesses who rely on interfacing with their customers but we have seen figures from the Department for Transport, we have people making a lot less bus trips than ever before.

Lord Mayor: I will ask Councillor Clarke to answer that question.

Councillor Clarke: On the bus patronage I was yesterday morning visiting First Bus and Arriva Bus and discussing the growth in patronage that Arriva are experiencing at the moment and working with them very closely to continue that growth so that people see bus travel you know as an option for them. In terms of the guestion about squeezing traffic Mrs. Flude may recall the session she attended on developing the Air Quality Action Plan which she contributed to which talked in great detail about the systems around traffic light phasing and how traffic does actually move through a narrow gap using traffic light phasing at sometimes a better rate and traffic stops less and goes through at a much more appropriate rate that actually has a positive impact on air quality. In terms of cyclists exercising they are not actually exercising they are commuting. Our annual cordon survey this year showed over 400 cyclists using Newarke Street. I have got the figures here, we have got over 5,000 people going through our cordon survey. Cycling into the City to use the businesses in the City including those just up the road from Cank Street my Lord Mayor, new businesses going in. As Chair of the Townscape Heritage Initiative we are selling buildings and leases are going for buildings for new restaurants and shops and such like. The City is thriving at the moment my Lord Mayor, particularly that part of the City where I am really pleased to say that there will be new businesses moving in imminently.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Clarke and thank you Mrs. Flude.

Mrs. Flude: Thank you.

QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS

Lord Mayor: We now move to questions from Councillors. Councillor Singh.

Councillor Singh: Yes thank you my Lord Mayor. Cutting through some of the gloom the East Midlands and Leicester appears to be a beacon of light in all things. "Can I congratulate the City Mayor in achieving success for the City of Leicester in its recent top 10 national ranking as 'the best City for business' and will he also inform this Council regarding the recent Leicester, Leicestershire Economic Partnership's 2 week 'Leicester Business Festival 2015' success which continues to develop and improve the economic asset of the City, the businesses and employment opportunities for its constituents?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: Thank you my Lord Mayor. The report that Councillor Singh refers to is actually only the latest of a number that have given a very high rating indeed to the City. That particular one was associated with Accounting Technicians and they were looking at the best place in the UK to start a business and they compared 64 cities – Leicester ranked third. It looked at a whole range of different criteria in doing that including the density of small/medium businesses and various things across the whole range of our activity. Interestingly Derby was tenth in that ranking and Nottingham, that smaller City to the north, was ranked twentieth. But as I say it is only the latest of a number. Grant Thornton did a report that identified Leicester as one of the UK's leading locations for foreign business investment. Property Week obviously a very respected publication, identified the hottest 100 retail locations in the UK and ranked Leicester third. And I have had others, the Enterprise Research Centre looked at us and said we, alongside London, contained the highest proportion of fast growing businesses in the UK. So it is not just one

isolated survey, it is a consistent message that Leicester is a place that is attracting investment and where people ought to feel that there is a positive opportunity for further investment. Councillor Singh asked me about the business festival. This is the first one that has been done. I am told there were over 5,000 people attended the various events associated with it and in so far as it is a measure of anything they say that the social media reach of it was over three quarters of a million people and that really is very substantial indeed. So a major success story continuing to promote the opportunities for business and business investment in Leicester.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Have you a supplementary question Councillor Singh?

Councillor Singh: Yes I do my Lord Mayor. Thank you. I am very grateful to the City Mayor for providing that information. Lord Mayor these successes come on top of another recent economic statistic which puts the City of Leicester or the City Centre as the top 10 highest grossing centre. This is really, really so significant in all of the country. These are hard earned and significant accolades secured through judicious policies and programmes with the City Mayor and this Labour Group which we can take recognition and pride for the City. Will the City Mayor reveal what other goodies can the City expect in the forthcoming New Year of 2016.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: I think being asked to reveal goodies, Chair, is a bit like Santa being asked to say what is in the sack somewhat before Christmas. I think we can look forward with confidence to the future. We have seen in this last year IBM choosing to come and locate its business centre here in Leicester. Hastings Direct setting up here. Both creating high quality jobs. We have seen Mattioli Woods coming back in Grove Park into the City Centre as you know as a result of the environment upgrades and the opportunities we have created here and I know that our Inward Investment Team particularly Helen Donnellan who leads it are talking with other potential investors and re-investors to the City and I very much anticipate that during the next year there will be other high profile announcements of others who have read the signs, read the surveys and know that Leicester is a place that welcomes investment and where on the back of that investment we can create jobs.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Kitterick.

Councillor Kitterick: Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Does the City Mayor agree with creating a £1.3m reserve for the Leicestershire Fire Service whilst planning to remove 11 fire engines and closing 2 stations. Surely this reserve is justified instead of implementing these kind of cuts to front line services?"

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: The short answer is of course no although actually I have looked closely at the proposals that are being made and it is not actually a proposal for a creation of a £1.3m reserve. But quite clearly what we must seek to do in assessing the results of the consultation is to ensure that in so far as it is possible given the sorts of cuts I was taking of earlier on in regard to the comprehensive spending review which hit fire as well as other local authorities one must seek to do there as we do here is to preserve the front line service and of course the front line services of the fire service are ones that are not only critical for the safety of the City but are also ones that we would want to see adequately covered across the whole of the County particularly the whole of our City.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Kitterick have you a supplementary question?

Councillor Kitterick: I have Lord Mayor. Whilst the creation of a reserve is desirable, essentially reserves are rainy day money and we will need a lot of rainy days if the number of fire engines are cut in the City as planned because there won't be any fire engines to put out the fires. Lord Mayor it is a case that whilst a reserve is desirable I believe it was Nye Bevan that said that, and I always get this quote wrong so please forgive me if I botch it slightly, 'The language of priorities is the religion of socialism'. And Can I ask the Lord Mayor as a fellow socialist that when the choice comes between a healthy reserve and fire services that are cut and degraded so that the City and County are unsafe or safe services for both the City and County and may be a reserve not as high as recommended by the Chief Finance Officer, that we must choose safe fire services.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor yes as I explained in fact the proposal is not to create a £1.3m reserve but leaving that point side Cllr. Kitterick is entirely right that the provision of front line services is what matters not what you have kept back in the bank for a rainy day as he quite rightly describes it and I do agree with him entirely.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Kitterick can you ask your second question please.

Councillor Kitterick: Can I ask the City Mayor whether he agrees with the Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service's proposal to close the busiest fire station in the City, Central, and removing the busiest fire engine at Western Station, when options for the underused and unrequired £11m Birstall HQ still have not been fully explored and the building officially added to the list of proposals for it to be sold or leased?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: Thank you Lord Mayor. It is an opportunity actually just to begin by just drawing a distinction between the consultation that has taken place which is about changes in the operational service which is what they call the Integrated Risk Management Plan and the budget proposals of the authority and those who have served on the Fire Authority in the past, I see some nodding in agreement, that there is a distinction. It is though again an opportunity for me to agree entirely with Councillor Kitterick that there are going to be some choices to be made and when those choices are made they have got to be for the protection of the front line services to Central fire station in particular and not a palace out at Birstall.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Kitterick have you a supplementary question?

Councillor Kitterick: Thank you very much Lord Mayor. I am sure the City Mayor like myself greatly appreciates the Leicester Fire station not just for its function but its form, it is certainly one of the most beautiful buildings in the City. Lord Mayor if I just put it that if we were to close the Central fire station and sell it we would probably be lucky to get 10% of the receipt that we would get for the sale of the unneeded headquarters at Birstall, and that I would call on the City Mayor to ensure that the Birstall headquarters is either disposed of or leased as soon as possible.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: Thank you my Lord Mayor. As Councillor Kitterick knows I am very sympathetic to that although I must give some slight warning that is that there is a considerable difference between what it costs to build the headquarters at Birstall and what might be received by way of a capital receipt for it now. It was built in different times for a specific purpose and it might not necessarily be possible to raise that level of capital receipt from selling it to cover the costs of its original construction but nonetheless the trend of the question is one which again which I find myself in entire agreement with.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Kitterick your third question.

Councillor Kitterick: Lord Mayor. Given the overwhelming concern and opposition from serving firefighters, retired senior officers, Members of Parliament, Councillors and the public to the proposed fire service cuts, can you guarantee that the Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service's proposals won't significantly affect public safety?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: Again my Lord Mayor as I have said on a number of occasions I can't give that guarantee because I am not convinced myself of it. As I have said I am not convinced that the proposals, particularly the proposals to close the Central fire station would not significantly affect public safety, and for that reason it may be very clear that unless I was to hear a very convincing argument which I have not yet heard, I would find myself in a positon of having no alternative but to vote against such a closure of the fire station.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Have you a supplementary Councillor Kitterick?

Councillor Kitterick: Not so much a supplementary but to express my appreciation to the City Mayor for voicing his opposition to the proposed fire service cuts and I am sure the City Mayor is aware that he has the unanimous support of Councillors in this City Labour Group to oppose those cuts.

City Mayor: If I might comment my Lord Mayor I am very grateful for the campaigning that Councillor Kitterick and others have done on this issue and as always grateful for the support of my colleagues.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Grant your first question.

Councillor Grant: Can the City Mayor explain the extent of planning by the City Council with the police in preparation for a terrorist incident in Leicester?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: I thank Councillor Grant for his very timely question. I hope you will understand that I will probably respond in rather general terms rather than specific ones. But in fact I am able to give as far as it is ever possible to give reassurance about preparedness, but I can give reassurance that there is very close working between the City Council and the others involved in the Local Resilience Forum. Now that is a multi-agency group and it includes ourselves and the police but other public agencies and they together draw up contingency plans for, amongst other things, large public events. We do also work very closely with the police counter-

terrorism security advisers and together with the police have sponsored a number of counter-terrorism awareness raising events. Some of which in fact Councillors have been invited to but they have been an attempt to encourage the business community, frontline staff and ourselves to be aware of risk and to be aware of ways in which we can all be alert, all be vigilant and help. We have done with others a number of joint exercises, particularly joint exercises relating to special events with large numbers of people. But also I have myself engaged in some that have done simulation events in and around the City which is just a good part of planning so that the agencies can, in so far as they can ever, simulate what might be anticipated but attempts to simulate different types of events and how we would work together and how we would respond to them. I know obviously that there has been particularly close working when there have been large events of the City, the re-interment of King Richard III, Diwali or something of that sort that brings a lot of people together and we do have generic plans for the City Centre should anything happen here; generic plans in terms of evacuation and containment of things. There is an ongoing programme of work between our Emergency Planning Officer, the Counter-Terrorism Adviser security adviser from the police and indeed just next week there is going to be some work done to roll out key messages on a zone by zone basis across the City Centre particularly relating to evacuation should anything happen. So there is a lot of ongoing work but as I say I am sure Councillor Grant and others will understand that it is probably sensible to talk about it only in general terms, but I am convinced that it is being dealt with by people who do know their business.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Have you a supplementary Councillor Grant?

Councillor Grant: No.

Lord Mayor: Can you move to your second question then please.

Councillor Grant: Yes. What arrangements are in place to share critical Council facilities with the police, such as CCTV, and can these be improved and access to them made easier through closer working?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

Councillor Master: Recording inaudible.

City Mayor: Thank you Councillor Master. Have you a supplementary?

Councillor Grant: Yes Lord Mayor. I am aware of the police use of our CCTV cameras at Blackbird Road having spent an evening with the Inspector in charge of the operation that covers the City Centre on a Friday evening in 2013. Wouldn't it be helpful to the police, particularly in extreme circumstances, for them to be able to have access to a live feed from those cameras because at the moment basically an officer has to go to Blackbird Road and sit with our operators. That seems quite an antiquated and inefficient system. If we have an extreme incident it would be appropriate for the police to perhaps have access through their command structure and certainly if the technology is available seeing as I have actually got it I could stream a picture from my son's bedroom to a mobile device here it seems that actually we could be working with the police to upgrade these important kind of facilities if the money was available and fortunately the police have not had a funding cut and it might be an option.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Master.

Councillor Master: Recording inaudible.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Master. Councillor Grant your third question.

Councillor Grant: Is the City Mayor satisfied (although Councillor Master is answering) that the City Council has done enough in relation to the Prevent Strategy to protect the people of Leicester?

Lord Mayor: Councillor Master.

Councillor Master: Recording inaudible.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Grant have you a supplementary?

Councillor Grant: No.

Councillor Grant: Why aren't residents in Knighton being consulted on the proposed permit parking scheme for Clarendon Park when for many it is their closest shopping area, and includes the nearest post office, following the closures of Knighton post offices, on the basis of access to the Queen's Road location?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor the Clarendon Park area is subject to commuter parking from staff and students at the University, Queen Elizabeth College and indeed those going into the City Centre. It does make it difficult for residents to find parking during the day. It is also the case that it is near enough to both Tigers and King Power for it to suffer quite significantly from match day parking as well. As a result of that there have been a number of discussions with residents over quite a considerable period of time particularly obviously from the Ward Councillors, and certainly they have felt that it is appropriate for us to begin the process with informing residents in advance, in January, commencing of the formal public consultation. The residents parking proposals are likely to have very significant provision within them for shoppers and visitors so that residents from Knighton and indeed elsewhere in the City will find parking easier and hopefully will make it easier for them to use the very good shops that there are on Clarendon Park Road and Queens Road.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Grant have you a supplementary?

Councillor Grant: No.

Lord Mayor: Can you move then to your fifth question please.

Councillor Grant: Is it true that if the permit parking scheme goes ahead that the scheme will be funded via borrowing?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor I am informed that the income from residents parking schemes is expected to pay back the implementation costs. It's therefore usually written down over a number of years hence the concept of borrowing for it. Technically it is what we would call prudential borrowing as it has a payback to it and you can borrow up front. Although I am told that in practice no new actual

borrowing will be undertaken for this scheme as it would be possible to cover it at this level with cash balances.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Grant have you a supplementary?

Councillor Grant: Yes. As the City Mayor will know from the experience on Allendale Road and Francis Street, it can be the case that once you have implemented a scheme the residents and businesses are unhappy with the consequences and ask for you to remove it. So can he reassure us that if a scheme went ahead and that was to be the case that the local residents decided they did not like it, that they wouldn't be then burdened with the scheme having to be left in place whilst it generated the funds to cover the prudential borrowing.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: Lord Mayor I must double check this but it has certainly been our practice in the past in other schemes to put them in in the first instance on an experimental basis. Whether that is indeed the case here I don't know but I think it is likely. But it is also the case that of course when you do put in a scheme it can be taken out if it subsequently proves not to be working or to be universally unpopular. What has been very evident from previous schemes is that the public scepticism indeed on some occasions opposition to schemes has evaporated very guickly indeed. And I remember going over the years to some fairly stormy meetings with residents before a scheme has been implemented, and promising to come back in six months only to discover that there is no need to go back in six months because everyone wants them to stay, and that has been a fairly common pattern. So while of course it is possible that an experimental scheme might need to be taken out at the end of the period or indeed that if it was put in a permanent basis it could be undone subsequently. I think that is very unlikely given our experience elsewhere, but of course it is entirely up to the residents themselves as to whether they want it in the first place and that is of course what the public consultation that begins in January will be setting out to determine.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Grant your sixth question.

Councillor Grant: On the basis that the City Mayor has made it clear that formal consultation is not starting until January I will withdraw the question, it is not relevant.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Grant. Councillor Porter your first question.

Councillor Porter: Thank you. "Can the Council give us a date for the consultation on the new Local Plan?"

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: Yes my Lord Mayor I am informed that it is planned that consultation on the next stage of the Local Plan will be undertaken in early 2016, that is early next year.

Lord Mayor: Do you have a supplementary Councillor Porter?

Councillor Porter: Yes. Thank you to the City Mayor for his answer there. My supplementary is there has been a bit of inconsistency at the Planning Committee recently. One week an application for flats wasn't approved because there was not

sufficient amenity space although it happened to be right next to quite a large park, and then the following week or two weeks later at the next Planning Committee an application for flats which did not have any amenity space at all and did not have any parks nearby was approved. Even Members of the Planning Committee expressed their concern and their confusion so my question to the City Mayor is when we adopt this new Local Plan can he make sure that there is a consistent approach to planning policy.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor as Members will be aware the planning function or at least the development control function is not one that I am responsible for, it is one that is the responsibility of the Council as a whole and it is the Council as a whole that appoints a committee to carry that function out on their behalf. And I am really not in a position to talk about the consistency of decisions of those who sit on that Committee. What I do know is that they are charged with the responsibility, obviously applying the policies of the Council but having regard to national legislation and planning guidance and also considering each application on its merits – that is why it goes in front of Members rather than just going through a process of officers. The consideration of the application on its merits, that can to the outsider give the appearance of inconsistency. It is in fact members of the Committee doing their job.

Lord Mayor: I think you are moving now to your second question. Councillor Porter.

Councillor Porter: Thank you Lord Mayor. Can the Council give the dates when the County Council owned the freehold for land at Franklyn Fields in Aylestone?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor I am informed that the County Council do still own part of the land at Franklyn Fields and that they have entered into an arrangement with the City Council jointly to market it. They will retain ownership until the sale to the proposed developer occurs and I was also informed that they originally acquired the site as a result of local government reorganisation in 1974 from the City and that it was one of the few pieces of land that did not come back at the time of unitary status.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Porter have you a supplementary question?

Councillor Porter: Yes thank you and thank you to the City Mayor for the answer. Could he explain why when the Leicester City Council became a unitary authority in 1997 this particular piece of land did not revert to the ownership of the City Council.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor I have to say in the complexity of the transfers that were taking place at that time, I certainly as the Leader of the Council at that time, did not notice that this particular one had not come back. Had I done I might well have asked the same question that Councillor Porter asks now as to why it did not come back. The fact is that it did not come back for whatever reason, whether it was a matter of deliberate choice by the County or the City, whether it was oversight, I really don't know, but the fact is that the freehold remains at the moment with the County Council and they are working collaboratively with us to ensure that

the development at that site is brought on to the market and that we receive the much needed housing to be developed there.

Lord Mayor: Thank you. Councillor Porter your third question.

Councillor Porter: Thank you Lord Mayor. Following on from the Ofsted inspection of services for children, have there been any unallocated cases?

Lord Mayor: Councillor Russell.

Councillor Russell: Thank you my Lord Mayor. A key area that the Council has been robustly addressing and monitoring is the allocation of cases which was a concern in late 2014 and at the time of the inspection in January and February Cases requiring allocation could consist of new referrals needing 2015. assessment which are passed through from duty and advice service, or the caseload of a social worker leaving the service. All section 47 child protection investigations are allocated immediately, and when a social worker leaves the allocation of any child protection case is prioritised. Case allocation is connected with the shortage of social workers and the turn that we have experienced in our workforce and the use of agency staff some of whom had previously left the service with little or no warning requiring us to reallocate whole caseloads. This is being addressed by the requirement for staff to give a month's notice, that includes our agency staff and is part of our new terms with them. Some level of such cases awaiting allocation to social workers is part of the normal ebb and flow within a children in need service and in Leicester as in other local authorities there is sometimes a gap between one social worker leaving and their successor starting and any work required with the family has to be undertaken on a duty basis by another social worker in the team. The number of unallocated cases that Cllr. Porter refers to is reported to both operational and senior managers on a daily basis and close managerial oversight is in place to ensure no cases are left unallocated for longer than is necessary. As of Tuesday when this answer was pulled together in the afternoon there were 12 cases awaiting allocation but none of those had been waiting over 5 days and that is the figure that we particularly look at. And none of those were child protection cases. The Council was subject to a monitoring visit by Ofsted on the 10th and 11th October and the Inspector challenged the Council on this issue on the basis of the September performance book figures that we provide to all Members and were provided to Scrutiny in the last month. At the end of the visit and after discussing the matter with the Chair of the Improvement Board she advised the Strategic Director that she was satisfied that the Council was on top of this aspect of performance. Thank you my Lord Mayor.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Russell. Do you have a supplementary Councillor Porter?

Councillor Porter: Yes I do actually Lord Mayor. It is interesting that you only talk about the period since recently with 12 cases. I would have really liked to have had the details of figures over a much longer period so that we could get a view of what is actually going on in the service because the Ofsted report highlighted that there was failures which have not been resolved since 2011 when they had their basically their review that took place then, their inspection that took place then. So what procedures has the City Council got in place to make sure that the mistakes that were made back in 2011 which continued right up until 2014 are not repeated again. I mean I understand they set targets but who is monitoring these targets and are those people able to report this back to Members.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Russell.

Councillor Russell: Thank you my Lord Mayor. I am not sure Councillor Porter heard all the answer to the first part of my question because as I hope I clearly explained both operational and strategic managers are looking at the figures for unallocated cases on a daily basis. We have weekly case allocation meetings to ensure that we don't have cases that remain unallocated over five days and if there are they are very short periods and we ensure that allocation happens. Those are reported through to the Improvement Board, they are reported through to Scrutiny and those figures are also shared with Members on a regular basis by both the Scrutiny and the emails that I do out to Members around the performance of the service. If Councillor Porter would like to receive different information we would need to speak about that. We have had an agreement both with the Improvement Board and with partners that we will try and get consistent information out so that we are not asking managers to pull together different sets of information all the time, that we have a very, very comprehensive set of data that is accessible to as many people as possible because we want scrutiny of the service, we want to be able to show that we do know our service, we know where the strengths are. We also know where some of the weaknesses still are and that we are focussing on those and I am very happy to share all that information with Councillor Porter as I do with all Members now. Thank you Lord Mayor.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Russell. Councillor Porter your fourth question.

Councillor Porter: Thank you. If the land at Franklyn Fields, Aylestone is developed where will the vehicle access and egress be located?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: I am informed that it is anticipated that vehicle egress and access will be from Franklyn Road in line with the planning guidance.

Lord Mayor: Thank you. Have you a supplementary question Councillor Porter?

Councillor Porter: Yes. I understand that the Mayor has been heavily involved in proposing this site for development, but is it possible that there is a rethink that takes place on that access and egress because as I mentioned earlier on in the terms of the petition that I raised there is already an ongoing problem in Aylestone with rat running so the idea of having a huge housing development at the top of a road which is currently a cul-de-sac really is not acceptable. So is it possible that we could have some discussions with the City Mayor, myself and Councillor Clarke maybe and some local residents and see if we can get something sorted out about that access.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor I am always prepared to have representations from Ward Councillors about schemes in their Ward particularly ones that are of significant as this, but I do repeat what I said earlier on that this is a scheme very much to be welcomed. Obviously the capital receipt that it produces both for the City and the County but also for the opportunity that it gives to bring much needed house building into this part of the City and to do so in a way that is very sensitive to the existing housing in the area and the immediately adjacent Aylestone Meadows. A very important part to be thinking about the development of this area, has been to

ensure that we develop it in such a way that it does compliment the adjacent Aylestone Meadows and make a positive contribution to the ecology and the environment of the area.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Porter item 15 your fifth question.

Councillor Porter: How many offers have been returned to the Council for the land at Franklyn Fields, Aylestone by the 12 noon deadline on the 11th April 2014?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: I am informed that the Council received 9 bids as a result of the marketing of the site, one of which was delivered after the deadline.

Lord Mayor: Do you have a supplementary question Councillor Porter?

Councillor Porter: Yes. The one that came in after the deadline is that the one that he is currently hoping to get a capital receipt on.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor as Members will understand I don't engage directly in either opening tenders or assessing them. What I am told is that the late bid was not the highest bid and I was also reassured, and I did specially ask about this and how it had been handled. The Council has a well-established policy of dealing with late offers which is included in the Constitution and that officers concerned were very careful to ensure that the rules were properly applied.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. That is the end of the questions.

MATTERS RESERVED TO COUNCIL

Healthier Air for Leicester: Leicester's Air Quality Action Plan 2015-2026

Details were given of the proposed Air Quality Action Plan for the City for 2015 – 2026 which had been developed following consultation with key stakeholders and in compliance with statutory guidance and set out ambitions and actions under 4 key themes.

Moved by Councillor Clarke, seconded by Councillor Osman and carried:-

17. That Council adopts the Healthier Air for Leicester: Leicester's Air Quality Action Plan 2015-2026.

Leicester and Leicestershire Combined Authority

A report of the Strategic Director for City Development, Neighbourhoods, Regeneration and Culture was considered which sought approval to submit a proposal to establish a combined authority for Leicester and Leicestershire to the Department for Communities and Local Government. The considerations of the Economic Development, Transport and Tourism Scrutiny Commission were received and it was noted that the report was being considered by the nine Councils across Leicester and Leicestershire during November and December. Moved by the City Mayor, seconded by the Deputy City Mayor and carried:-

- 18. That Council:
 - 1. Approve the Scheme for the Combined Authority;
 - 2. Approve the Governance Review;
 - 3. Authorise the publication of the Scheme and its submission to the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG);
 - 4. Authorise the Chief Operating Officer, following consultation with the City Mayor, to make any final amendments to the Scheme and Governance Review prior to their submission to the DCLG in December or January 2016;
 - 5. Authorise the Chief Operating Officer, following consultation with the City Mayor, to enter into discussions with the DCLG and such other Government departments and other persons as are considered necessary by the Chief Operating Officer to agree the terms of the Order establishing the Combined Authority and to approve the final form of the Order on behalf of the City Council; and
 - 6. Authorise the Chief Operating Officer, following consultation with the City Mayor:
 - to negotiate, agree and execute all ancillary documents in support of the operation of the Combined Authority, including (without limitation) the constitution of the Combined Authority; and
 - ii) to take all decisions and actions necessary to enable the establishment of the Combined Authority.

Review of Statement of Licensing Policy

A report of the Director of Local Services and Enforcement was considered which sought approval to a Licensing Act Policy concerning the sale or supply of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late nigh refreshment for 2016 – 2021.

Moved by Councillor Waddington, seconded by the Councillor Thomas and carried.

19. That Council approves the revised policy as shown in Appendix A of the report.

Gambling Policy

A report of the Director of Local Services and Enforcement was considered which sought approval to a Gambling concerning the Council's responsibilities under the Gambling Act 2005 for 2016 - 2019.

Councillor Waddington, seconded by the Councillor Thomas to move:-

20. That Council approve the revised policy as shown in Appendix A of the report.

Minimum Revenue Provision

A report of the Director of Finance was considered which sought approval to a revised policy to apply from 2015 / 16 for Minimum Revenue Protection which was the minimum amount which must be charged to taxpayers each year in order to pay

down debt incurred for previous years' capital expenditure.

Moved by the City Mayor, seconded by the Deputy City Mayor and carried:-

21. That Council approves the revised policy for making 'Minimum Revenue Provision' to apply from 2015/16.

REPORTS OF REGULATORY COMMITTEES

Annual Report of the Audit and Risk Committee to Council for the Municipal Year 2014-2015

Councillor Patel, Chair of the Audit Committee submitted a report on the work of the Audit Committee during the municipal year 2014-15

Moved by Councillor Patel, seconded by Councillor Malik and carried:-

22. That Council receives the report.

EXECUTIVE AND COMMITTEES

None.

NOTICES OF MOTION

None.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS

The Lord Mayor noted the success of the recent Christmas lights switch on and that this was the last meeting of the calendar year and so wished all present a happy and peaceful Christmas and declared the meeting closed at 6.52pm.